
f – file   i – information   m – motion   p – presentation 

BOARD MONTHLY MEETING 

Thursday, October 12, 2023 
9:30 a.m. 

ADVISORY COUNCIL TO FOLLOW 

Kent District Library Service Center 
814 W River Center NE 

Comstock Park, MI 49321 

AGENDA 

1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
a) Introduce New Members

2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA (m) 

3) QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS & BOARD PRESIDENT/COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR ANSWERS
4) PUBLIC COMMENTS
5) APPROVAL OF MINUTES

a) September 14, 2023, Unofficial Board Minutes (m) PAGES 2-3

6) FINANCIAL REPORT
a) August Financials and monthly check register (m) PAGES 4-10

b) MI CLASS Annual Report (m) PAGES 11-32

7) PRESIDENT’S REPORT (i)

8) COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT (i) PAGES 33-37

9) COUNCIL/COMMITTEE REPORTS
a) Advisory Council Official Minutes September 14, 2023 (i) PAGE 38

10) NEW BUSINESS
a) Fund Depositories Designates (m) PAGE 39

b) Public Comment Policy Draft (m) PAGE 40

c) Board Member Oath Draft (m) PAGES  41-43

11) PUBLIC COMMENTS
12) BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS
13) NEXT MEETING: November 9th at the Kent District Library Service Center
14) ADJOURNMENT (m) 

1



1 

LAKELAND LIBRARY COOPERATIVE 
BOARD MINUTES – Unofficial 

Thursday, September 14, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. 
Kent District Library Service Center 

 
Present: John McNaughton (GRPL), Diane Kooiker (HO), Ron Suszek (MADL), Maggie McKeithan 
(OS), Dale Parus (IC), Lance Werner (KDL), Carol Dawe (LL), Joe Zappacosta (SM), Shirley 
Bruursema (KDL) 
Lakeland Staff Present: Amber McLain, Janet Cornell 
Absent: Karen McKinnon (AL) 

 
1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: The meeting was called to order at 9:32 am. by Lance Werner.  
2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA: John McNaughton moved, supported by Diane Kooiker, to approve the 
agenda as presented - motion carried. 
3) QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS: There were no questions from members. 
4) PUBLIC COMMENTS: There were no public comments. 
5) APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Shirley Bruursema moved, supported by Ron Suszek, to approve the 
board minutes from August. – motion carried. 
6) FINANCIAL REPORT: 

a) August Financials and Check Register: John McNaughton moved, supported by Maggie 
McKeithan, to approve the August Financials as presented - motion carried. 

7) PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
a)  Lance Werner had nothing to report. 

8) DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
a) See written report. 

9) COUNCIL/COMMITEE REPORTS 
a) See Advisory Council minutes. 

10) NEW BUSINESS: 
a) 2023-2024 Meeting Dates Approval – John McNaughton moved, supported by Dale Parus to 

approve the 2023-2024 meeting dates. – motion carried. 
b) 2023-2024 Health Care Resolution – Diane Kooiker moved, supported by John McNaughton to 

approve the 2023-2024 Health Care Resolution. – motion carried. 
c) FY2022-2023 End of Year Budget Amendments – John McNaughton moved, supported by Joe 

Zappacosta to approve the FY2022-2023 budget amendments. – motion carried. 
d) FY2023-2024 Budgets – Dale Parus mentioned that without an increase in state aid, the budget 

reflects a 3-5% decrease. John McNaughton moved, supported by Diane Kooiker to approve the 
FY2023-2024 Budgets. – motion carried. 

e) Plan of Service Revisions – Dale Parus moved, supported by John McNaughton to approve the 
Plan of Service revisions. – motion carried. 

f) Ex Officio Board Member Appointment – Lance Werner explained that that the board was 
adjusted to reflect changes in member numbers, giving equitable representation across the 
membership. Due to these changes, Shirley Bruursema will be added as an Ex Officio member of 
the Lakeland board until she is no longer a member of the Kent District Library Board. Shirley was 
given a round of applause and thanked everyone, commenting on her years of service. 

11) PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
a) None 

12) BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS: 
a) Shirley Bruursema – With 5 different fiscal year ends in the cooperative, she has been busy 

working with 5 different millage elections. 
b) Joe Zappacosta – Joe gave a shoutout to the HR Collaborative group based in Grand Rapids for 

assistance in Hackley’s employee handbook revisions.  

2



Lakeland Library Cooperative Unofficial Board Minutes for September 14, 2023 

2 
 

c) Dale Parus - None 
d) John McNaughton - None 
e) Diane Kooiker - None 
f) Ron Suszek - None 
g) Maggie McKeithan – Spring Lake renovations begin October 1st. Bids came in lower than 

expected so they are within $18,000 of their fundraising goal. 
h) Lance Werner – KDL’s millage campaign is ongoing.  Thanked Shirley for all her hard work and 

service over the years at KDL and Lakeland. 
13) NEXT MEETING: Thursday, October 12, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. at Kent District Library Service 
Center. 
14) ADJOURNMENT: John McNaughton moved, supported by Ron Suszek, to adjourn at 9:51 am - 
motion carried. 

 
Respectfully submitted by, 
Janet Cornell 

3



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Operating Fund Balance Sheet
 As of September 30, 2023

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

001 · Checking Accounts 164,646

002 · Savings Accounts 651,055

Total Checking/Savings 815,702

Other Current Assets

084 · Due from Other Funds 74,429

123 · Prepaid Expenses 84,224

Total Other Current Assets 158,653

Total Current Assets 974,355

Fixed Assets 318,585

TOTAL ASSETS 1,292,940$        

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable 9,294

Credit Cards 37

Other Current Liabilities

231 · Payroll Liabilities 2,579

237 · Benefit Liabilities 4,697

257 · Accrued Payroll 26,432

258 · Accrued Payroll Taxes 1,853

Total Other Current Liabilities 35,561

Total Current Liabilities 44,892

Total Liabilities 44,892

Equity

370 · Nonspendable Funds 88,574

371 · Property 318,585

390 · Unassigned Funds 792,063

Net Income 48,825

Total Equity 1,248,047

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 1,292,940$        

 Page 1 of 7

4



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Operating Budget vs. Actual
 October 2022 through September 2023

YTD Budget %

Income

566 · State Aid Revenue 711,962 709,000 100.4%

631 · Administrative Services 116,550 116,535 100.0%

632 · Delivery Services 106,248 106,247 100.0%

633 · ILS & IT Services 581,244 581,243 100.0%

665 · Interest Revenue 21,141 3,000 704.7%

672 · Other Revenue 100 100 100.0%

Total Income 1,537,245$        1,516,125$        101.4%

Expense

702 · Salaries & Wages 787,863 792,090 99.5%

710 · Benefits 127,250 137,670 92.4%

719 · Mileage 4,735 5,000 94.7%

720 · Professional Development 4,552 5,680 80.1%

726 · Supplies 5,108 5,160 99.0%

801 · Professional Services 37,730 38,900 97.0%

810 · Insurance 16,538 16,615 99.5%

817 · ILS & IT Expenses 389,973 400,195 97.4%

831 · RIDES 8,157 8,405 97.0%

860 · Delivery Expenses 39,154 59,725 65.6%

880 · Member Development 4,277 7,000 61.1%

920 · Facility Expenses 31,083 39,685 78.3%

Total Expense 1,456,420 1,516,125 96.1%

Net Ordinary Income 80,825$             -$                   100.0%

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

690 · Other Financing Sources 2,500

Total Other Income 2,500

Other Expense

995 · FB Transfers Out 34,500 34,500 100.0%

Total Other Expense 34,500 34,500 100.0%

Net Other Income -32,000 -34,500 92.8%

Net Income 48,825.3$          (34,500.0)$         -141.5%

 Page 2 of 7

5



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Operating Checks for the Month
 As of September 30, 2023

Date Name Memo Account Amount

001.01 · Main Checking

09/06/2023 BiblioCommons Corp. BiblioCloud Bibliocore 1,750.00

09/06/2023 Seaman's Air Conditioning/RefrigerationHVAC Facility Contracts 1,406.00

09/07/2023 Berger Chevrolet Vehicle Repairs/Maintenance 253.66

09/07/2023 Cintas Floor mats Facility Contracts 103.64

09/07/2023 Comcast Data Lines IT Operations 575.00

09/07/2023 Consumers Energy Utilities 549.68

09/07/2023 Granger Trash Removal Facility Contracts 114.63

09/07/2023 Healthiest You Telehealth Benefits 76.50

09/07/2023 Home Depot Building Repairs/Maintenance 242.94

09/07/2023 Ricoh USA Inc. Copier IT Operations 40.90

09/07/2023 SS Power Wash Truck wash Vehicle Repairs/Maintenance 90.00

09/08/2023 MERS Pension Benefits 6,180.31

09/08/2023 State of Michigan--Vendor Payroll Liabilities 3,044.15

09/08/2023 Backstage Library Works Authority Control 247.50

09/08/2023 Coverall - New Dreams, Inc. Facility Contracts 170.00

09/08/2023 Fuel Management System Vehicle Fuel 1,227.50

09/08/2023 Innovative Interfaces, Inc. Enhanced Monitoring Service III Maintenance 5,940.00

09/12/2023 Payroll -SPLIT- 22,546.40

09/12/2023 United States Treasury Payroll Liabilities 8,331.02

09/12/2023 MERS 401/457 Payroll Liabilities 1,327.37

09/20/2023 Dell Business Credit IT Operations 2,327.07

09/20/2023 Delta Dental Dental/Vision Insurance Benefits 348.25

09/21/2023 Aflac Payroll Liabilities 377.30

09/21/2023 BCBS Health Insurance Benefits 1,989.30

09/21/2023 BCN Health Insurance Benefits 5,014.61

09/21/2023 DTE Energy Utilities 52.25

09/21/2023 Michigan Insurance Company Insurance 11,768.00

09/21/2023 Mitel Telephones 476.60

09/21/2023 Standard Insurance - MERS group LTD/Life Insurance Benefits 260.21

09/21/2023 DTE Energy Utilities 55.17

09/21/2023 First National Bank IT, Bank fees, Conferences -SPLIT- 2,421.03

09/22/2023 Grand Rapids Income Tax Dept. Payroll Liabilities 166.86

09/22/2023 Walker City Treasurer Payroll Liabilities 387.15

09/22/2023 Allied Universal (Midstate) Building Security Facility Contracts 121.56

09/22/2023 Dawe, Carol - vendor Mileage and  IT -SPLIT- 231.87

09/22/2023 Fuel Management System Vehicle Fuel 1,021.43

09/26/2023 Payroll -SPLIT- 17,419.82

09/26/2023 United States Treasury Payroll Liabilities 5,593.46

09/26/2023 MERS 401/457 Payroll Liabilities 1,327.37

TOTAL 105,576.51

 Page 3 of 7

6



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Pass Through & Capital Funds Balance Sheet
 As of September 30, 2023

Pass Through Capital

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

001 · Checking Accounts

001.1 · Fund - Checking 31,653 1,873

001.3 · eCommerce - Checking 4,911

Total 001 · Checking Accounts 36,564 1,873

002 · Savings Accounts 78,169

Total Checking/Savings 36,564 80,042

Accounts Receivable 9,762

Other Current Assets

123 · Prepaid Expense 10,712

Total Other Current Assets 0 10,712

Total Current Assets 46,326 90,754

TOTAL ASSETS 46,326$           90,754$         

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Other Current Liabilities

214 · Due To Other Funds 40,000 34,429

223 · Due to Members 6,326

Total Other Current Liabilities 46,326 34,429

Total Current Liabilities 46,326 34,429

Total Liabilities 46,326 34,429

Equity

370 · Nonspendable Funds 10,350

390 · Unassigned Funds 1,591

Net Income 0 44,384

Total Equity 0 56,325

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 46,326$           90,754$         

 Page 4 of 7

7



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Pass Through & Capital  Budget vs. Actual
 October 2022 through September 2023

Pass Through Capital & Growth

YTD Budget % YTD Budget %

Income

628 · Group Supply Revenue 20,511 20,570 99.7%

629 · Group Collections 94,645 97,200 97.4%

635 · Group Services 79,815 80,050 99.7%

637 · Ecommerce Fines 22,663 28,000 80.9%

640 · ILS Add-on Services 0 0 0.0%

645 · IT Services 303 350 86.5%

665 · Interest Revenue 3,610 4,000 90.2%

672 · Other Revenue 2,839 2,850 99.6%

677 · Group Training 1,600 1,600 100.0%

Total Income 222,377 230,620 96.4% 3,610 4,000 90.2%

Gross Profit 222,377 230,620 96.4% 3,610 4,000 90.2%

Expense

728 · Library Supply Expense 20,511 20,570 99.7%

729 · Collection Expenses 94,645 97,200 97.4%

805 · Group Subscriptions 79,815 80,050 99.7%

807 · Fines Paid 22,663 28,000 80.9%

820 · ILS Add-On Expense 0 0 0.0%

830 · IT Services Expense 303 350 86.5%

880 · Member Development 1,600 1,600 100.0%

969 · Other Services 2,839 2,850 99.6%

970 · Capital Outlay

971 · Building/Grounds Improvements 0 7,500 0.0%

975 · Technology 63,912 95,000 67.3%

980 · Vehicles 59,814 66,000 90.6%

Total 970 · Capital Outlay 123,726 168,500 73.4%

Total Expense 222,377 230,620 96.4% 123,726 168,500 73.4%

Net Ordinary Income 0 0 0.0% (120,116) (164,500) 73.0%

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

699 · Fund Balance Transfers In 164,500 164,500 100.0%

Total Other Income 164,500 164,500 100.0%

Net Other Income 164,500 164,500 100.0%

Net Income 0 0 0.0% 44,384 0 100.0%

 Page 5 of 7

8



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Pass Through & Capital - Monthly Checks
 As of September 30, 2023

Date Name Memo Account Amount

001 · Checking Accounts

001.1 · Fund - Checking

001.11 · Checking - Pass Through

09/07/2023 OverDrive audiobook Group Collections 50.83

09/08/2023 Innovative Interfaces, Inc. eMarc Group Collections 26.36

09/20/2023 ID Label, Inc. barcodes Library Supplies 362.50

09/21/2023 First National Bank domain renewal IT Operations 44.99

09/21/2023 OverDrive audio & ebooks Group Collections 6,179.10

09/22/2023 Fennville District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 322.13

09/22/2023 Freeport District Library - Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 144.68

09/22/2023 Gary Byker Memorial Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 273.04

09/22/2023 Hesperia Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 87.40

09/22/2023 Hopkins District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 125.50

09/22/2023 Ionia  Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 123.57

09/22/2023 Leighton Township Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 148.00

09/22/2023 Patmos Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 391.02

09/22/2023 Reynolds Township Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 204.79

09/22/2023 Saranac Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 475.72

09/22/2023 Saugatuck--Douglas District Library-Vendo efines & donation -SPLIT- 99.20

09/22/2023 Sparta Township Library--Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 252.98

09/22/2023 White Cloud Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 155.82

09/22/2023 White Lake Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 122.73

09/22/2023 Swank Movie Licensing USA License renewals Group Subscriptions 9,365.00

Total 001.11 · Checking - Pass Through 18,955.36

001.12 · Checking - Capital

Total 001.12 · Checking - Capital 0.00

Total 001.1 · Fund - Checking 18,955.36

001.3 · eCommerce - Checking

09/20/2023 Allendale Township Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 361.67

09/20/2023 Alvah N. Belding Library--Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 129.03

09/20/2023 Carson City Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 176.02

09/20/2023 Cedar Springs Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 109.41

09/20/2023 Coopersville Area District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 267.88

09/20/2023 Croton Township Library - Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 124.10

09/20/2023 Dorr Township Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 103.17

09/20/2023 Flat River Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 120.56

09/20/2023 Fremont Area District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 255.24

09/20/2023 Fruitport District Library - Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 89.66

09/20/2023 Georgetown Twp Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 1,952.43

09/20/2023 Grand Rapids Public Library-Vendor donation Other Services 67.59

09/20/2023 Grant Area District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 182.88

09/20/2023 Hackley Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 276.43

09/20/2023 Hastings Public Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 247.99

09/20/2023 Henika District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 150.47

09/20/2023 Herrick District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 659.44

 Page 6 of 7

9



 Lakeland Library Cooperative

 Pass Through & Capital - Monthly Checks
 As of September 30, 2023

Date Name Memo Account Amount

09/20/2023 Home Township Library - Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 79.77

09/20/2023 Howard Miller Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 291.93

09/20/2023 Kent District Library-Vendor donation Other Services 67.59

09/20/2023 Lake Odessa Community Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 107.13

09/20/2023 Loutit District Library--Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 241.62

09/20/2023 Muskegon Area District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 1,001.51

09/20/2023 Newaygo Area District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 147.36

09/20/2023 Salem Township Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 274.90

09/20/2023 Spring Lake District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 192.14

09/20/2023 Tamarack District Library-Vendor efines & donation -SPLIT- 110.59

Total 001.3 · eCommerce - Checking 7,788.51

Total 001 · Checking Accounts 26,743.87

TOTAL 26,743.87

 Page 7 of 7

10



MICHIGAN COOPERATIVE LIQUID ASSETS SECURITIES SYSTEM

Annual Report
JUNE 30,  2023                            AUDITED
(INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT WITHIN)

Michigan CLASS Rated ‘AAAm’ by S&P Global Ratings
Michigan CLASS EDGE Rated ‘AAAf/S1’ by FitchRatings

S&P Global Ratings and FitchRatings in no way guarantee favorable performance 
results and should not be construed as safety in an investment.

11



2

Chairperson’s Letter

To the Participants of Michigan CLASS:

On behalf of the Michigan CLASS Board of Trustees and our administrator and investment advisor, Public Trust Advisors, LLC (Public 
Trust), I am pleased to present the Michigan CLASS Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Over the course of its 30+ year history, Michigan CLASS has persevered through a myriad of different economic events, interest rate 
cycles, changes to the fixed income markets, continued advances in technology, and most recently, a global pandemic. Through it all, 
the Michigan CLASS Board of Trustees, along with its Administrator and Investment Advisor, Public Trust, remains steadfastly committed 
to our core values; that funds entrusted to us remain safe and liquid, while earning a competitive return. We trust that your interactions 
with Michigan CLASS are always professional, supportive and provide value to you, your staff, and your community. We are grateful 
for the trust you have continued to place in our organization, and we are honored to serve the more than 700 active Michigan CLASS 
Participants statewide.

Over the past year, the Federal Reserve has aggressively raised interest rates to combat 40-year high inflation. Since peaking in June 
2022, inflation has steadily trended lower but remains too high for comfort. Despite the most aggressive monetary tightening cycle since 
1980, the U.S. economy continues to expand at a modest pace and the labor market remains remarkably resilient. Due to the long and 
variable lags between changes in monetary policy and the transmission to the general economy, the Federal Reserve may be nearing 
the end of its rate hiking campaign. There are nascent signs that tighter lending standards are starting to restrict economic growth, 
helping the Federal Reserve achieve its dual mandate of maximum employment and price stability.  

Michigan CLASS continues to benefit from the uplift in short-term rates, providing a significant boost in income for our valued 
Participants. In fact, Michigan CLASS, and Michigan CLASS EDGE paid a combined $141 million in dividends over the course of the fis-
cal year, representing an increase of over 2,200% from the prior fiscal year! While the additional income has provided a reprieve from 
near-zero interest rates in prior years, Michigan CLASS continues making conservative investment decisions, and will always maintain 
consistent focus on the primary objectives of safety, liquidity, and a competitive market return. 

Over the past fiscal year, Michigan CLASS has experienced extraordinary growth, having welcomed more than 100 new Participants. In 
April of 2023, the combined assets of Michigan CLASS and Michigan CLASS EDGE surpassed $3.93 billion, a new all-time high!

As we turn the page on another successful fiscal year, the Michigan CLASS Board of Trustees recognizes that it is you, the Michigan 
CLASS Participants, that are our greatest asset and thank you for your continued support.

As your chairman, it is a pleasure and an honor to represent the Board, and you have my commitment that Michigan CLASS will continue 
to deliver transparent, exceptional investment options across our great state. 

Respectfully,

Edward J. Sell, Jr.
Chairman, Board of Trustees

12



3

Independent Auditors’ Report

C O H E N  &  C O M P A N Y ,  L T D .

800.229.1099 | 866.818.4538 fax | cohencpa.com

Registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Trustees of Michigan Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System  
and Participants of Michigan CLASS and Michigan CLASS EDGE 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Michigan Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities 
System,  comprising  Michigan  CLASS  and  Michigan  CLASS  Edge  (the  “Funds”),  which  comprise  the 
statements of net assets as of June 30, 2023, and the related statements of operations and changes in net 
assets for the year then ended , and the related notes to the financial statements.  

In our opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to above present  fairly,  in all material  respects,  the 
financial position of the Funds as of June 30, 2023, and the results of their operations and changes in their 
net assets for the year then ended  in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted  in the 
United States of America. 

The Funds’ financial statements,  including the financial highlights presented  in Note 7 to the financial 
statements, for the year ended June 30, 2022, and prior, were audited by other auditors whose report 
dated September 14, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial 
highlights.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Funds and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  financial  statements  in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design,  implementation,  and  maintenance  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  preparation  and  fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Funds’ ability to continue 
as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 

13



4

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to  issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore  is not a guarantee  that an audit conducted  in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement  resulting  from  fraud  is higher  than  for one  resulting  from  error,  as  fraud may  involve 
collusion,  forgery,  intentional  omissions,  misrepresentations,  or  the  override  of  internal  control. 
Misstatements  are  considered material  if  there  is  a  substantial  likelihood  that,  individually or  in  the 
aggregate,  they  would  influence  the  judgment made  by  a  reasonable  user  based  on  the  financial 
statements. 

   In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to  fraud  or  error,  and  design  and  perform  audit  procedures  responsive  to  those  risks.  Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 
 Obtain  an  understanding  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  audit  in  order  to  design  audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion  on  the  effectiveness  of  the  Funds’  internal  control.  Accordingly,  no  such  opinion  is 
expressed. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that  raise  substantial  doubt  about  the  Funds’  ability  to  continue  as  a  going  concern  for  a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

 
 
Cleveland, Ohio   
September 11, 2023 
 
 
 
 

14



5

Repurchase Agreements (4%)* 
 Goldman Sachs & Co. Tri-Party $100,000,000  4.88% 07/03/2023  4.88%  $100,000,000 
    (Collateralized by U.S. Government Agency 
    Securities with coupon rates between 2.00% and 
    6.00% and maturing between 07/01/2027 
    and 04/01/2052.) 
 BofA Securities Inc. Tri-Party 31,256,514   5.05  07/03/2023  5.05   31,256,514 
    (Collateralized by a U.S. Government Treasury 
    Security with a coupon rate of 1.625% and maturing 
    on 10/15/2027.)  
 Royal Bank of Canada New York Tri-Party  7,544,533   5.01  07/03/2023  5.01   7,544,533 
    (Collateralized by U.S. Government Agency and 
    Treasury Securities with coupon rates between 
    0.00% and 4.50% and maturing between 
    11/24/2023 and 06/20/2050.)          
 Cost of ($138,801,047)       138,801,047           

Money Market Funds (3%)*            
 RBC U.S. Government Fund - 
    Institutional Class  37,510,453   4.99-Var.    4.99   37,510,453 
 Allspring Government Money Market Fund - 
    Select Class  24,399,472   5.02-Var.    5.02   24,399,472 
 Goldman Sachs Financial Square 
    Government Fund - Institutional Class  18,200,397   5.02-Var.    5.02   18,200,397 
 State Street Institutional U.S. Government 
    Fund - Premier Class  13,032,605   5.02-Var.    5.02   13,032,605 
 Fidelity Government Portfolio - 
    Institutional Class  2,846,923   5.02-Var.     5.02  2,846,923             
 Cost of ($95,989,850)       95,989,850           

Commercial Paper (88%)* 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  20,000,000   5.54-Var.  11/13/2023  5.54   19,998,000 
 GTA Funding LLC  20,000,000   Disc.**   07/11/2023  5.17   19,968,858 
 Mizuho Bank Ltd. Singapore  20,000,000   Disc.**   07/14/2023  5.45   19,958,300 
 ANZ New Zealand (Int’l) Limited of London  20,000,000   Disc.**   08/28/2023  5.55   19,822,300 
 Johnson & Johnson  20,000,000   Disc.**   09/07/2023  5.43   19,796,860 
 Mizuho Bank Ltd. Singapore  20,000,000   Disc.**   10/05/2023  5.65   19,703,988 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  20,000,000   Disc.**   10/11/2023  5.62   19,687,540 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  19,500,000   Disc.**   08/25/2023  5.34   19,341,478 
 The Procter & Gamble Co.  19,500,000   Disc.**   09/15/2023  5.44   19,278,675 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  18,000,000   5.53-Var.  11/06/2023  5.53   18,008,820 
 LMA Americas LLC  15,500,000   Disc.**   07/10/2023  5.48   15,476,781 
 BofA Securities Inc.  15,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/20/2023  5.54   15,016,050 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  15,000,000   5.53-Var.  10/06/2023  5.53   15,011,700 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  15,000,000   5.52-Var.  11/10/2023  5.52   15,010,350 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  09/29/2023  5.48   15,009,600 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  15,000,000   5.50-Var.  10/05/2023  5.50   15,007,950 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  15,000,000   5.52-Var.  10/11/2023  5.52   15,007,200 
 Swedbank AB  15,000,000   5.54-Var.  10/06/2023  5.54   15,007,200 

  * Denotes percentage of net assets   ** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023
INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

15



6

 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  $15,000,000   5.48%-Var.  09/28/2023  5.48%   $15,007,050 
 Swedbank AB  15,000,000   5.53-Var.  09/29/2023  5.53   15,006,750 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  09/25/2023  5.48   15,006,670 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  15,000,000   5.58-Var.  10/02/2023  5.58   15,006,600 
 ING (U.S.) Funding LLC  15,000,000   5.52-Var.  10/03/2023  5.52   15,006,300 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  09/28/2023  5.48   15,006,300 
 Nordea Bank Abp  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  09/22/2023  5.48   15,005,850 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  09/22/2023  5.48   15,005,850 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   5.51-Var.  10/02/2023  5.51   15,005,700 
 Swedbank AB  15,000,000   5.49-Var.  09/21/2023  5.49   15,005,100 
 CDP Financial Inc.  15,000,000   5.49-Var.  09/21/2023  5.49   15,004,891 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.47-Var.  10/19/2023  5.47   15,004,500 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.47-Var.  11/01/2023  5.47   15,004,050 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  15,000,000   5.39-Var.  10/27/2023  5.39   15,002,400 
 Nordea Bank Abp  15,000,000   5.40-Var.  08/07/2023  5.40   15,002,400 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  15,000,000   5.36-Var.  08/14/2023  5.36   15,002,250 
 The Bank of Nova Scotia  15,000,000   5.64-Var.  07/05/2023  5.64   15,000,957 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  10/26/2023  5.48   15,000,900 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.57-Var.  07/07/2023  5.57   15,000,900 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  15,000,000   5.43-Var.  07/11/2023  5.43   15,000,450 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  15,000,000   5.43-Var.  07/10/2023  5.43   15,000,450 
 CDP Financial Inc.  15,000,000   5.40-Var.  07/06/2023  5.40   15,000,300 
 Ridgefield Funding Co. LLC  15,000,000   5.36-Var.  07/14/2023  5.36   15,000,300 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   5.20-Var.  10/10/2023  5.20   15,000,000 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  15,000,000   5.48-Var.  12/20/2023  5.48   14,999,955 
 Commonwealth Bank of Australia  15,000,000   5.45-Var.  01/22/2024  5.45   14,999,181 
 Ridgefield Funding Co. LLC  15,000,000   5.29-Var.  08/16/2023  5.29   14,998,980 
 The Bank of Nova Scotia  15,000,000   5.62-Var.  07/06/2023  5.62   14,998,500 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   5.51-Var.  10/03/2023  5.51   14,998,500 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  15,000,000   5.23-Var.  08/23/2023  5.23   14,998,185 
 Nordea Bank Abp  15,000,000   5.19-Var.  09/06/2023  5.19   14,997,150 
 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.  15,000,000   5.21-Var.  10/13/2023  5.21   14,992,905 
 PSP Capital Inc.  15,000,000   5.18-Var.  10/13/2023  5.18   14,992,140 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   5.21-Var.  11/13/2023  5.21   14,989,320 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   07/06/2023  5.14   14,987,333 
 BPCE  15,000,000   Disc.**   07/07/2023  5.43   14,984,400 
 Victory Receivables Corp.  15,000,000   Disc.**   07/19/2023  5.43   14,957,745 
 Gotham Funding Corp.  15,000,000   Disc.**   07/21/2023  5.47   14,952,915 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   07/25/2023  5.34   14,945,325 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/03/2023  5.17   14,928,118 
 GTA Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/02/2023  5.33   14,928,087 
 NRW. Bank  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/04/2023  5.26   14,924,750 
 BPCE  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/03/2023  5.48   14,923,830 
 Export Development Canada  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/07/2023  5.37   14,916,570 
 Caisse d’Amortissement de la Dette Sociale  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/08/2023  5.31   14,915,403 
 Citigroup Global Markets  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/11/2023  5.64   14,903,340 
 United Overseas Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/29/2023  5.43   14,867,250 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/29/2023  5.50   14,865,600 
 BofA Securities Inc.  15,000,000   Disc.**   08/31/2023  5.45   14,862,360 
 BMO Financial Group  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.40   14,861,479 

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023

16



7

 BPCE  $15,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.53%   $14,858,100 
 MUFG Bank Ltd. New York  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/05/2023  5.58   14,847,855 
 Mackinac Funding Company, LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/06/2023  5.54   14,846,632 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd. New York  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.60   14,840,640 
 MUFG Bank Ltd. New York  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/12/2023  5.59   14,831,760 
 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/21/2023  5.48   14,815,498 
 GTA Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/20/2023  5.65   14,811,975 
 United Overseas Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/25/2023  5.66   14,800,335 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   09/27/2023  5.63   14,796,969 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/03/2023  5.52   14,787,398 
 Old Line Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/04/2023  5.65   14,780,400 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/06/2023  5.61   14,777,235 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/10/2023  5.52   14,772,075 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/12/2023  5.42   14,771,850 
 Mizuho Bank Ltd. Singapore  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/16/2023  5.72   14,750,430 
 Old Line Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/17/2023  5.71   14,748,710 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/18/2023  5.66   14,748,513 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/18/2023  5.66   14,748,375 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/20/2023  5.65   14,744,547 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/20/2023  5.67   14,743,333 
 Credit Agricole CIB New York  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/31/2023  5.63   14,720,865 
 Gotham Funding Corp.  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/02/2023  5.80   14,708,085 
 Mackinac Funding Company, LLC  15,000,000   Disc.**   10/30/2023  5.97   14,706,405 
 BofA Securities Inc.  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/15/2023  5.50   14,694,570 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.66   14,652,499 
 Credit Agricole CIB New York  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/29/2023  5.72   14,651,033 
 Gotham Funding Corp.  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/27/2023  5.80   14,650,625 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/29/2023  5.73   14,650,463 
 ASB Bank Ltd.  15,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.71   14,649,248 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  13,000,000   5.50-Var.  10/24/2023  5.50   13,007,800 
 Royal Bank of Canada  13,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/06/2023  5.55   13,007,410 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  12,000,000   Disc.**   10/16/2023  5.66   11,802,216 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  11,240,000   Disc.**   10/02/2023  5.64   11,079,139 
 BofA Securities Inc.  10,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/21/2023  5.55   10,006,300 
 Nordea Bank Abp  10,000,000   5.45-Var.  10/18/2023  5.45   10,006,300 
 Nordea Bank Abp  10,000,000   5.40-Var.  11/07/2023  5.40   10,005,800 
 ING (U.S.) Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.52-Var.  10/04/2023  5.52   10,004,200 
 BNZ International Funding Ltd. of London  10,000,000   5.50-Var.  10/17/2023  5.50   10,003,900 
 BofA Securities Inc.  10,000,000   5.49-Var.  12/07/2023  5.49   10,003,900 
 Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce  10,000,000   5.49-Var.  09/26/2023  5.49   10,003,900 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   5.48-Var.  01/08/2024  5.48   10,003,600 
 Swedbank AB  10,000,000   5.49-Var.  10/13/2023  5.49   10,003,400 
 Royal Bank of Canada  10,000,000   5.42-Var.  11/27/2023  5.42   10,003,100 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   5.47-Var.  10/17/2023  5.47   10,003,000 
 Nordea Bank Abp  10,000,000   5.26-Var.  09/13/2023  5.26   10,002,100 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  10,000,000   5.41-Var.  12/05/2023  5.41   10,002,100 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.39-Var.  10/25/2023  5.39   10,001,600 
 Nordea Bank Abp  10,000,000   5.39-Var.  08/10/2023  5.39   10,001,500 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  10,000,000   5.42-Var.  11/20/2023  5.42   10,001,500 
 Nordea Bank Abp  10,000,000   5.38-Var.  08/08/2023  5.38   10,001,300 

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023

17



8

 Nordea Bank Abp  $10,000,000   5.43%-Var.  12/08/2023  5.43%   $10,001,300 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   5.49-Var.  10/19/2023  5.49   10,001,200 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  10,000,000   5.51-Var.  07/13/2023  5.51   10,001,100 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   5.48-Var.  10/23/2023  5.48   10,000,900 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.44-Var.  07/11/2023  5.44   10,000,400 
 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.  10,000,000   5.42-Var.  11/09/2023  5.42   10,000,400 
 Royal Bank of Canada  10,000,000   5.40-Var.  12/01/2023  5.40   10,000,400 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.29-Var.  07/27/2023  5.29   10,000,100 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  10,000,000   5.44-Var.  12/12/2023  5.44   10,000,000 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  10,000,000   5.29-Var.  08/11/2023  5.29   9,999,860 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.31-Var.  09/12/2023  5.31   9,999,770 
 Chariot Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.30-Var.  07/28/2023  5.30   9,999,760 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  10,000,000   5.28-Var.  08/14/2023  5.28   9,999,720 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  10,000,000   5.24-Var.  08/17/2023  5.24   9,999,580 
 Chariot Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.30-Var.  08/07/2023  5.30   9,999,560 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.49-Var.  01/22/2024  5.49   9,999,360 
 Ridgefield Funding Co. LLC  10,000,000   5.29-Var.  08/15/2023  5.29   9,999,340 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  10,000,000   5.29-Var.  08/09/2023  5.29   9,999,200 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.28-Var.  08/10/2023  5.28   9,999,190 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  10,000,000   5.26-Var.  09/13/2023  5.26   9,999,140 
 BNP Paribas SA  10,000,000   5.26-Var.  09/15/2023  5.26   9,999,000 
 Commonwealth Bank of Australia  10,000,000   5.43-Var.  01/03/2024  5.43   9,999,000 
 Royal Bank of Canada  10,000,000   5.46-Var.  02/01/2024  5.46   9,999,000 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.26-Var.  08/17/2023  5.26   9,998,650 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.27-Var.  08/16/2023  5.27   9,998,540 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  10,000,000   5.26-Var.  10/02/2023  5.26   9,997,737 
 Ridgefield Funding Co. LLC  10,000,000   5.24-Var.  09/05/2023  5.24   9,997,580 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  10,000,000   5.23-Var.  09/07/2023  5.23   9,997,120 
 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.  10,000,000   5.21-Var.  10/11/2023  5.21   9,995,370 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.23-Var.  10/12/2023  5.23   9,995,110 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  10,000,000   5.23-Var.  10/23/2023  5.23   9,993,020 
 Johnson & Johnson  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/05/2023  5.25   9,992,810 
 Chariot Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/07/2023  5.49   9,989,480 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/10/2023  5.42   9,985,160 
 LMA Americas LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/12/2023  5.48   9,982,010 
 Halkin Finance LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/13/2023  5.19   9,981,551 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/13/2023  5.43   9,980,700 
 Ciesco, LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/17/2023  5.48   9,974,520 
 Antalis SA  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/24/2023  5.43   9,964,440 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/26/2023  5.26   9,962,650 
 Barton Capital S.A.  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/26/2023  5.32   9,962,271 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/27/2023  5.20   9,961,698 
 Mizuho Bank Ltd. Singapore  10,000,000   Disc.**   07/31/2023  5.50   9,953,480 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/07/2023  5.38   9,944,277 
 Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V.  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/09/2023  5.28   9,942,444 
 Chariot Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/11/2023  5.58   9,936,210 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/14/2023  5.36   9,934,375 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/15/2023  5.52   9,930,910 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/21/2023  5.39   9,923,770 
 United Overseas Bank Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/22/2023  5.37   9,922,576 

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023

18



9

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023

 National Australia Bank Ltd.  $10,000,000   Disc.**   08/23/2023  5.30%   $9,922,180 
 FMS Wertmanagement  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/23/2023  5.34   9,921,550 
 Mizuho Bank Ltd. New York  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/28/2023  5.57   9,910,810 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd. Singapore  10,000,000   Disc.**   08/29/2023  5.60   9,908,770 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd. Singapore  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.44   9,907,005 
 Barton Capital S.A.  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.63   9,903,710 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/06/2023  5.34   9,901,457 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd. Singapore  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/05/2023  5.46   9,900,803 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/06/2023  5.45   9,899,400 
 Credit Agricole CIB New York  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/07/2023  5.52   9,896,790 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.46   9,896,400 
 Credit Agricole CIB New York  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.52   9,895,270 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.58   9,894,050 
 MUFG Bank Ltd. New York  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.59   9,893,980 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Ltd. Singapore  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/11/2023  5.49   9,891,413 
 BPCE  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/11/2023  5.55   9,890,180 
 MUFG Bank Ltd. New York  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/14/2023  5.52   9,886,401 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/15/2023  5.46   9,886,040 
 BPCE  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/19/2023  5.55   9,878,433 
 LMA Americas LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/21/2023  5.67   9,872,760 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   09/26/2023  5.64   9,865,776 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/05/2023  5.63   9,852,641 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/16/2023  5.43   9,841,840 
 Natixis New York Branch  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/17/2023  5.55   9,836,980 
 BPCE  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/18/2023  5.62   9,833,400 
 Matchpoint Finance PLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/19/2023  5.69   9,829,923 
 LMA Americas LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/24/2023  5.76   9,820,340 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/26/2023  5.68   9,819,821 
 Barton Capital S.A.  10,000,000   Disc.**   10/27/2023  5.72   9,816,905 
 BPCE  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/02/2023  5.68   9,809,028 
 Victory Receivables Corp.  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/07/2023  5.75   9,799,475 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/08/2023  5.74   9,798,042 
 Barton Capital S.A.  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/09/2023  5.77   9,795,547 
 GTA Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/10/2023  5.74   9,795,069 
 Natixis New York Branch  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/17/2023  5.66   9,787,589 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/14/2023  5.79   9,787,155 
 Gotham Funding Corp.  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/15/2023  5.77   9,786,330 
 BofA Securities Inc.  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/16/2023  5.74   9,785,979 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/16/2023  5.75   9,785,708 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/20/2023  5.81   9,777,516 
 Old Line Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/21/2023  5.81   9,775,920 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.71   9,766,080 
 LMA Americas LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/28/2023  5.81   9,765,447 
 Gotham Funding Corp.  10,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.81   9,762,425 
 Charta LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/01/2023  5.93   9,756,010 
 Citigroup Global Markets  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/05/2023  5.83   9,754,003 
 BPCE  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/12/2023  5.73   9,747,590 
 Chariot Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/15/2023  5.82   9,739,320 
 Citigroup Global Markets  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/18/2023  5.81   9,735,180 
 Swedbank AB  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/19/2023  5.85   9,731,740 

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

19



10

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS) – JUNE 30, 2023

 Chariot Funding LLC  $10,000,000   Disc.**   12/22/2023  5.89%   $9,725,470 
 Jupiter Securitization Co. LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   12/27/2023  5.89   9,717,620 
 Export Development Canada  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/05/2024  5.77   9,709,980 
 Export Development Canada  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/10/2024  5.68   9,707,006 
 Export Development Canada  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/12/2024  5.68   9,703,822 
 Citigroup Global Markets  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/09/2024  5.93   9,696,079 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/04/2024  6.10   9,695,200 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  10,000,000   Disc.**   01/12/2024  5.97   9,689,540 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  9,500,000   Disc.**   09/11/2023  5.50   9,396,649 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  9,000,000   Disc.**   09/13/2023  5.51   8,899,219           
 Cost of ($2,799,230,992)       2,798,600,882            
Total Investments in Securities           
 Cost of ($3,034,021,889)       3,033,391,779                    
Deposit Balances in Custodian Banks (5%)* 
 First Merchants Bank  118,632,247   5.30-Var.    5.30   118,632,247 
 Waterford Bank, N.A.  52,287,161   5.10-Var.    5.10   52,287,161 
 Fifth Third Bank, N.A.  4,987,378   3.00-Var.    3.00   4,987,378               
 Cost of ($175,906,786)       175,906,786           

Other Assets   
 Accrued Interest Receivable       4,632,905 
 Receivable for Shares Sold       2,452,182          
 Total Assets       3,216,383,652 

Less Liabilities  
 Administration and Investment Advisory Fees       359,273 
 Miscellaenous Payable       37,206 
 Payable for Shares Redeemed       680,000          
 Total Liabilities       1,076,479           
 Net Assets        $3,215,307,173                     
Components of Capital 
 Capital (Par Value)        $3,215,937,283 
 Unrealized Depreciation on Investments       (630,110)          
 Net Assets       $3,215,307,173                    
Outstanding Participant Shares      3,215,937,283                    
Net Asset Value per Share      $1.00                    

  * Denotes percentage of net assets   ** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

20



11

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS EDGE) – JUNE 30, 2023

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

U.S. Government Treasury Securities (14%)* 
 U.S. Treasury Bill  $1,000,000   Disc.**   09/07/2023  5.05%   $990,550 
 U.S. Treasury Bill  1,000,000   Disc.**   10/05/2023  5.20   986,370 
 U.S. Treasury Bill  1,000,000   Disc.**   11/02/2023  5.28   982,242 
 U.S. Treasury Bill  1,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.32   978,167 
 U.S. Treasury Bill  1,000,000   Disc.**   12/28/2023  5.38   974,017 
            
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   0.13  07/15/2023  0.13   997,969 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   0.13  07/31/2023  0.13   996,145 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.63  06/30/2025  4.65   995,313 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.50  11/15/2025  4.52   994,648 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.63  02/28/2025  4.66   992,188 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   0.13  08/31/2023  0.13   991,802 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.50  11/30/2024  4.55   989,375 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   0.25  09/30/2023  0.25   987,839 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.38  10/31/2024  4.43   987,813 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.25  09/30/2024  4.31   986,641 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.25  12/31/2024  4.31   985,938 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   0.38  10/31/2023  0.38   984,258 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   4.13  01/31/2025  4.19   984,219 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.75  02/15/2024  2.80   983,594 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.50  01/31/2024  2.54   983,438 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.88  04/30/2025  3.95   980,469 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.88  03/31/2025  3.95   980,313 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.25  03/31/2024  2.30   976,406 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.00  06/30/2024  3.07   976,328 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.50  04/30/2024  2.56   975,938 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.25  08/31/2024  3.33   975,781 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.00  07/31/2024  3.08   974,570 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.50  05/31/2024  2.57   973,906 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   3.13  08/15/2025  3.24   965,664 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.88  05/31/2025  2.99   962,188 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.63  04/15/2025  2.74   958,906 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   2.00  02/15/2025  2.10   951,563 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   1.75  03/15/2025  1.85   945,781 
 U.S. Treasury Notes  1,000,000   1.13  01/15/2025  1.20   940,273          
 Cost of ($33,610,967)       33,290,612           
Money Market Funds (5%)*            
 Michigan CLASS (5%)  10,919,164   Disc.     5.25   10,919,164          
 Cost of ($10,919,164)       10,919,164           

Commercial Paper (81%)* 
 Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. New York  3,500,000   Disc.**   08/14/2023  5.38   3,476,918 
 Halkin Finance LLC  3,000,000   Disc.**   07/13/2023  5.19   2,994,465 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  3,000,000   Disc.**   09/29/2023  5.45   2,959,808 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  3,000,000   Disc.**   10/10/2023  5.50   2,954,607 
 ING (U.S.) Funding LLC  3,000,000   Disc.**   10/16/2023  5.58   2,951,304 
 Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. New York  3,000,000   Disc.**   10/17/2023  5.59   2,950,725 

  * Denotes percentage of net assets   ** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

21



12

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS EDGE) – JUNE 30, 2023

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  $3,000,000   Disc.**   $10/23/2023  5.63%   $2,947,737 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  3,000,000   Disc.**   10/25/2023  5.63   2,946,798 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  3,000,000   Disc.**   11/03/2023  5.69   2,942,211 
 Canadian Imperial Holdings Inc.  3,000,000   Disc.**   11/17/2023  5.60   2,936,868 
 BofA Securities Inc.  2,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/20/2023  5.54   2,002,140 
 BofA Securities Inc.  2,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/21/2023  5.55   2,001,260 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  2,000,000   5.50-Var.  10/24/2023  5.50   2,001,200 
 Royal Bank of Canada  2,000,000   5.55-Var.  11/06/2023  5.55   2,001,140 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  2,000,000   5.53-Var.  11/06/2023  5.53   2,000,980 
 CDP Financial Inc.  2,000,000   5.49-Var.  09/21/2023  5.49   2,000,652 
 Royal Bank of Canada  2,000,000   5.42-Var.  11/27/2023  5.42   2,000,620 
 The Bank of Nova Scotia  2,000,000   5.43-Var.  10/16/2023  5.43   2,000,551 
 Nordea Bank Abp  2,000,000   5.26-Var.  09/13/2023  5.26   2,000,420 
 Westpac Banking Corp.  2,000,000   5.41-Var.  12/05/2023  5.41   2,000,420 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  2,000,000   5.39-Var.  10/27/2023  5.39   2,000,320 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  2,000,000   5.52-Var.  11/27/2023  5.52   2,000,160 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  2,000,000   5.31-Var.  09/12/2023  5.31   1,999,954 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  2,000,000   5.26-Var.  09/13/2023  5.26   1,999,828 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  2,000,000   5.23-Var.  08/23/2023  5.23   1,999,758 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  2,000,000   5.26-Var.  10/02/2023  5.26   1,999,547 
 Ridgefield Funding Co. LLC  2,000,000   5.24-Var.  09/05/2023  5.24   1,999,516 
 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corp. Ltd.  2,000,000   5.21-Var.  10/13/2023  5.21   1,999,054 
 Old Line Funding LLC  2,000,000   5.23-Var.  10/12/2023  5.23   1,999,022 
 PSP Capital Inc.  2,000,000   5.18-Var.  10/13/2023  5.18   1,998,952 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  2,000,000   5.23-Var.  10/23/2023  5.23   1,998,604 
 National Australia Bank Ltd.  2,000,000   5.21-Var.  11/13/2023  5.21   1,998,576 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/06/2023  5.14   1,998,311 
 GTA Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/11/2023  5.17   1,996,886 
 Alinghi Funding Co. LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/12/2023  5.36   1,996,482 
 LMA Americas LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/12/2023  5.48   1,996,402 
 Ciesco, LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/17/2023  5.48   1,994,904 
 Liberty Street Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/18/2023  5.58   1,994,512 
 Manhattan Asset Funding Co.  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/21/2023  5.25   1,993,979 
 MetLife Short Term Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   07/31/2023  5.36   1,990,942 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   08/14/2023  5.36   1,986,875 
 Pricoa Short Term Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   08/16/2023  5.36   1,986,296 
 Nordea Bank Abp  2,000,000   Disc.**   08/17/2023  5.37   1,985,976 
 PSP Capital Inc.  2,000,000   Disc.**   08/18/2023  5.32   1,985,828 
 Collateralized Commercial Paper V Co. LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   08/29/2023  5.50   1,982,080 
 ING (U.S.) Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.42   1,981,464 
 Natixis New York Branch  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.42   1,981,452 
 Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. New York  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/05/2023  5.28   1,980,793 
 Barton Capital S.A.  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/01/2023  5.63   1,980,742 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/06/2023  5.45   1,979,880 
 Johnson & Johnson  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/07/2023  5.43   1,979,686 
 Natixis New York Branch  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/07/2023  5.44   1,979,642 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/08/2023  5.46   1,979,280 
 The Procter & Gamble Co.  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/15/2023  5.44   1,977,300 
 Natixis New York Branch  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/22/2023  5.48   1,975,088 

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

22



13

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS EDGE) – JUNE 30, 2023

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

 GTA Funding LLC  $2,000,000   Disc.**   09/20/2023  5.65%   $1,974,930 
 ING (U.S.) Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/25/2023  5.50   1,974,106 
 La Fayette Asset Securitization LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   09/26/2023  5.61   1,973,307 
 BMO Financial Group  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/02/2023  5.62   1,971,466 
 Citigroup Global Markets  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/05/2023  5.71   1,970,116 
 DBS Bank Ltd.  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/11/2023  5.62   1,968,754 
 Nederlandse Waterschapsbank N.V.  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/19/2023  5.42   1,967,596 
 Starbird Funding Corp.  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/16/2023  5.66   1,967,036 
 BPCE  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/18/2023  5.62   1,966,680 
 Old Line Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/17/2023  5.71   1,966,495 
 Bedford Row Funding Corp.  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/18/2023  5.66   1,966,468 
 Barton Capital S.A.  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/27/2023  5.72   1,963,381 
 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/30/2023  5.64   1,962,982 
 Pricoa Short Term Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/31/2023  5.61   1,962,896 
 Mackinac Funding Company, LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   10/30/2023  5.97   1,960,854 
 GTA Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/08/2023  5.74   1,959,645 
 BofA Securities Inc.  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/15/2023  5.50   1,959,276 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/14/2023  5.73   1,957,888 
 BofA Securities Inc.  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/16/2023  5.74   1,957,196 
 Dexia Credit Local SA New York  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/17/2023  5.82   1,956,322 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  2,000,000   Disc.**   11/22/2023  5.67   1,955,966 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   12/01/2023  5.78   1,952,388 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  2,000,000   Disc.**   01/04/2024  5.94   1,940,610 
 Commonwealth Bank of Australia  2,000,000   Disc.**   02/20/2024  5.83   1,927,659 
 Citigroup Global Markets  2,000,000   Disc.**   03/04/2024  5.91   1,922,760 
 Canadian Imperial Holdings Inc.  2,000,000   Disc.**   03/08/2024  5.96   1,920,928 
 Citigroup Global Markets  2,000,000   Disc.**   03/01/2024  6.16   1,920,620 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  2,000,000   Disc.**   03/18/2024  6.03   1,916,970 
 The Bank of Nova Scotia  1,000,000   5.57-Var.  07/10/2023  5.57   1,000,109 
 The Toronto-Dominion Bank  1,000,000   5.44-Var.  12/12/2023  5.44   1,000,000 
 Johnson & Johnson  1,000,000   Disc.**   07/05/2023  5.25   999,281 
 Atlantic Asset Securitization LLC  1,000,000   Disc.**   07/05/2023  5.40   999,261 
 Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Ltd.  1,000,000   Disc.**   07/13/2023  5.28   998,123 
 Alinghi Funding Co. LLC  1,000,000   Disc.**   07/13/2023  5.36   998,093 
 Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp.  1,000,000   Disc.**   07/14/2023  5.13   998,036 
 Macquarie Bank Ltd.  1,000,000   Disc.**   08/01/2023  5.29   995,383 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  1,000,000   Disc.**   08/03/2023  5.17   995,208 
 Svenska Handelsbanken AB  1,000,000   Disc.**   08/21/2023  5.54   992,175 
 Thunder Bay Funding LLC  1,000,000   Disc.**   09/13/2023  5.51   988,802 
 Old Line Funding LLC  1,000,000   Disc.**   11/20/2023  5.81   977,752 
 ASB Bank Ltd.  1,000,000   Disc.**   11/30/2023  5.71   976,617 
 Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. New York  1,000,000   Disc.**   03/08/2024  6.08   959,683          
 Cost of ($188,516,876)       188,392,733            
Total Investments in Securities           
 Cost of ($233,047,007)       232,602,509           

** Denotes securities purchased with a zero coupon rate
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

23



14

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (MICHIGAN CLASS EDGE) – JUNE 30, 2023

  Principal/Share  Coupon Maturity Effective Fair
  Amount Rate  Yield Value

INVESTMENTS, AT FAIR VALUE

* Denotes percentage of net assets   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Deposit Balances in Custodian Banks (1%)* 
 Fifth Third Bank, N.A.  $1,261,830   3.00%-Var.    3.00%  $1,261,830           
 Cost of ($1,261,830)       1,261,830 

Other Assets   
 Accrued Interest Receivable       372,599           
 Total Assets       234,236,938 

Less Liabilities  
 Administration and Investment Advisory Fees       24,086 
 Payable for Shares Redeemed       467,451          
 Total Liabilities       491,537           
 Net Assets        $233,745,401                     
Components of Capital 
 Capital (Par Value)        $234,282,508 
 Realized Loss on Investments       (92,609)
 Unrealized Depreciation on Investments       (444,498)          
 Net Assets       $233,745,401                        
Outstanding Participant Shares      23,443,712                        
Net Asset Value per Share      $9.97                    

24



15

From Investment Activities: 
 Net Investment Income  $131,822,318      $5,366,911   $9,436,011   $715,240 
 Net Change in Unrealized Appreciation/(Depreciation) 
     on Investments 1,119,900  (1,787,602) 55,829  (500,327)
 Realized Gain/(Loss) on Investments  -      639   (15,758)  (76,851)     
 Net Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Operations 132,942,218  3,579,948  9,476,082  138,062
Distribution Reinvestments to Participants 
 from Net Investment Income (131,822,318) (5,366,911) (9,436,011) (715,240)

Distributions to Participants from Net Realized Gain  -     (639)  -     -   
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets from Share Transactions 615,765,502  400,429,699  (82,716,284) 316,998,792      
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets 616,885,402  398,642,097  (82,676,213) 316,421,614 
Net Assets: 
 Beginning of Period 2,598,421,771  2,199,779,674  316,421,614  -      
 End of Period  $3,215,307,173   $2,598,421,771   $233,745,401   $316,421,614           

Investment Income $136,068,783  $9,736,725 

Expenses:  
 Administration and Investment Advisory Fees  4,246,465   330,364 
 Administration and Investment Advisory Fees Waived  -     (29,650)   
 Administration and Investment Advisory Fees Net  4,246,465   300,714    
 Net Investment Income  131,822,318   9,436,011

Net Realized Loss on Investments  -     (15,758)
Net Change in Unrealized Appreciation on Investments  1,119,900   55,829   
Net Realized Loss and Unrealized Appreciation on Investments  1,119,900   40,072      
Net Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Operations  $132,942,218   $9,476,082       

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year Ended June 30, 2023

          Michigan Michigan 
     CLASS CLASS
      EDGE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

   Michigan CLASS  Michigan CLASS EDGE
   2023 2022 2023 2022 

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 for Michigan CLASS 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023 and the Period December 20, 2021 (Inception) Through June 30, 2022 for Michigan CLASS EDGE 

25



16

Notes to Financial Statements — June 30, 2023

Note 1. Description of Michigan CLASS and Significant Accounting Policies

Michigan Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System (“Michigan CLASS”) is a Participant controlled trust created in accordance with Section 5 of Act 7 
of the Urban Cooperation Act of 1967 and the Local Government Investment Pool Act, 1985 PA 121, MCL 129.141 to 129.150 and was established for 
participating Michigan municipalities on October 1, 1991 under the participation agreement (the “Participation Agreement”) and commenced operations 
on January 17, 1992. Michigan CLASS EDGE began operations on December 20, 2021. Both Michigan CLASS portfolios are available for investment by any 
county, city, village, township, school district, authority or any other political subdivision organized under the laws of the state of Michigan. The purpose of 
Michigan CLASS is to enable such entities to cooperate in the investment of their available funds. Michigan CLASS operates like a money market mutual 
fund with each share valued at $1.00. Michigan CLASS EDGE is an enhanced cash, variable NAV fund that offers next-day liquidity. Michigan CLASS 
is an investment company and follows the accounting and reporting guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 946.

Michigan CLASS is rated AAAm by S&P Global Ratings. Michigan CLASS EDGE is rated AAAf/S1 by FitchRatings.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses for the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following 
significant accounting policies are also in conformity with GAAP for investment companies. Such policies are consistently followed by Michigan CLASS in 
the preparation of the financial statements.

Securities Valuation

Securities, other than repurchase agreements, are valued at the most recent market bid price as obtained from one or more market makers for 
such securities. Repurchase agreements are recorded at fair value, which is represented by their resell/repurchase amounts. Michigan CLASS EDGE’s 
investment in money market funds are recorded at their estimated fair value or net asset value (NAV), as described in Note 2. The money market funds 
are valued at NAV of the participant shares of Michigan CLASS. The NAV is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value. The practical expedient 
would not be used if it is determined to be probable that Michigan CLASS EDGE will sell the investment for an amount different from the reported NAV.

Securities Transactions and Investment Income

Securities transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Realized gains and losses from securities transactions are recorded on a specific 
identification basis. Interest income is recognized on the accrual basis and includes amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts. Generally 
accepted accounting principles require the use of the effective interest method for amortization of premium and accretion of discount.

Distributions to Participants

Distributions from net investment income are declared and posted to participants’ accounts daily for the Michigan CLASS portfolio. Distributions from net 
investment income are declared daily and posted to participants’ accounts monthly for the Michigan CLASS EDGE portfolio. Michigan CLASS’s policy is to 
distribute net realized capital gains, if any, in a reasonable time frame after the gain is realized.

Income Taxes

Michigan CLASS is not subject to federal, state or local income taxes, and accordingly no tax provision has been made.

Michigan CLASS files tax returns annually. Michigan CLASS is not aware of any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that the total amounts of 
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change in the next twelve months. Michigan CLASS’s federal tax returns for the prior three fiscal years remain 
subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service.

Note 2. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with FASB guidance, the Michigan CLASS utilizes ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure” to define fair value, establish a 
framework for measuring fair value, and expand disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements. The standard emphasizes that fair value 
is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. 
Various inputs are used in determining the value of the Michigan CLASS portfolio investments defined pursuant to this standard.

26



17

These inputs are summarized into three broad levels:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical securities.
• Level 2 – Prices determined using other significant observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the assumptions market 

participants would use in pricing a security and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting 
entity. These may include quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit risk and others. Debt securities are 
valued in accordance with the evaluated bid price supplied by the pricing service and are generally categorized as Level 2 in the hierarchy. 
Securities that are categorized as Level 2 in the hierarchy include, but are not limited to, repurchase agreements, U.S government agency 
securities, corporate securities and commercial paper.

• Level 3 – Prices determined using significant unobservable inputs. In situations where quoted prices or observable inputs are unavailable or 
deemed less relevant (for example, when there is little or no market activity for an investment at the end of the period), unobservable inputs 
may be used. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting entities own assumptions about the factors market participants would 
use in pricing the security and would be based on the best information available under the circumstances.

There have been no significant changes in valuation techniques used in valuing any such positions held by Michigan CLASS since the beginning of the 
fiscal year. The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities. 
The summary of inputs used as of June 30, 2023 to value Michigan CLASS’s investments in securities and other financial instruments is included in the 
“Valuation Inputs Summary” and “Level 3 Valuation Reconciliation of Assets” (if applicable) as noted below.

Valuation Inputs Summary (for the year ended June 30, 2023) 

Michigan CLASS Portfolio
 Valuation Inputs  
Investments in Securities at Value* Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total    
Commercial Paper  $              -     $2,798,600,882   $       -     $2,798,600,882 
Money Market Funds  95,989,850   -     -     95,989,850 
Repurchase Agreements  -     138,801,047   -     138,801,047     
Total  $95,989,850   $2,937,401,929   $       -     $3,033,391,779               

Michigan CLASS EDGE Portfolio
 Valuation Inputs  
Investments in Securities at Value* Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total    
Commercial Paper  $             -     $188,392,733   $       -     $188,392,733 
U.S. Government Treasury Securities  -     33,290,612   -   33,290,612     
Total  $             -     $221,683,345   $       -     $221,683,345               

Investments Measured at NAV  
Michigan CLASS**     10,919,164     
Total investments by Fair Value      $232,602,509               

 * For the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, the Michigan CLASS and Michigan CLASS EDGE Porfolios did not have significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) used in determing  fair value.  Thus, a reconciliation of assets in which significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) were 
used in determining fair value is not applicable.   
 
 ** Michigan Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System:  Valued at NAV per share based on the fair market value of the underlying investments.  
NAV is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value.     
 

     
Note 3. Deposits and Investments

Deposits

At June 30, 2023, the Michigan CLASS portfolio had a cash deposit balance of $175,906,786. As a result, 5% of the total assets held by Michigan CLASS 
were concentrated at three banks. Interest earned on the investments as a percentage of total interest earned was 9% for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
Michigan CLASS EDGE had a cash deposit of $1,261,830.  As a result, 1% of the total assets held by Michigan CLASS EDGE were concentrated at one 
bank.  Interest earned on the investment as a percentage of total interest earned was 0.75% for the year ended June 30, 2023.  

Michigan CLASS and Michigan CLASS EDGE share a deposit account at Fifth Third Bank to facilitate participant contributions and withdrawals. Transactions 
for the individual portfolios are documented on separate accounting records and the deposit balance attributable to each is noted therein.

27



18

Custodian

Fifth Third Bank serves as the custodian for Michigan CLASS’s portfolios pursuant to a custodian agreement. The custodian acts as safekeeping agent 
for Michigan CLASS’s investment portfolio and provides services as the depository in connection with direct investment and withdrawals. The custodian’s 
internal records segregate investments owned by Michigan CLASS. 

Risk Disclosure

The portfolio is subject to the following risks:

• Counterparty Risk – Counterparty risk is the risk that the counterparty or a third party will not fulfill its obligation to Michigan CLASS.
• Interest Rate Risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of fixed-income securities will generally decline as prevailing interest rates rise, which 

may cause Michigan CLASS’s net asset value (NAV) to likewise decrease, and vice versa.
• Market Risk – Market risk is the daily potential for an investor to experience losses from fluctuations in securities prices. Market risk cannot be 

diversified away.
• Credit Risk – Credit Risk is the risk an issuer will be unable to make principal and interest payments when due, or will default on its obligations.

Michigan CLASS attempts to minimize its exposure to market and credit risk through the use of various strategies and credit monitoring techniques. 
Michigan CLASS limits its investments in any issuer to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. Michigan CLASS’s 
policy is to limit its exposure to any non-government issuer to 5% of net assets.

Investment in Securities

Michigan statutes specify investments meeting defined rating and risk criteria in which local government investment pools may invest as noted in 
Investment of Surplus Funds of Political Subdivisions Act 20 of 1943. The Board of Trustees has further limited investment instruments for the Michigan 
CLASS portfolio.

Michigan CLASS may invest in:

 (a) U.S. Treasury Bonds, Bills, Notes and Treasury Strips.
 (b) Obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States.
 (c) Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the highest two classifications established by not less than two standard rating services 

(i.e., as of September 18, 2009, A-1+ and A-1 by S&P Global Ratings, P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, or F1+ and F1 by FitchRatings) and that 
matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.

 (d) Bankers’ acceptances issued by FDIC member United States banks.
 (e) Repurchase agreements consisting of instruments listed in subdivision (a or b). Repurchase agreements shall be 102% collateralized with Public 

Securities Association (PSA) Master Repurchase agreement on file and or tri-party custody agreement on file.
 (f) Certificates of deposit issued by and deposit accounts of a financial institution eligible under law to be a depository of Participant public agencies 

of government so long as such articles of deposit and/ or deposit accounts are secured 102% at the value of each by eligible collateral.
 (g) In addition to the investments authorized in subsection (f), certificates of deposit issued in accordance with all of the following conditions:
  a. The funds are initially invested through a financial institution that is not ineligible to be a depository of surplus funds belonging to the state of 

Michigan under section 6 of 1855 PA 105, MCL 21.146.
  b. The financial institution arranges for the investment of the funds in certificates of deposit in 1 or more insured depository institutions, as defined 

in 12 USC 1813, or 1 or more insured credit unions, as defined in 12 USC 1752, for the account of Michigan CLASS.
  c. The full amount of the principal and any accrued interest of each certificate of deposit is insured by an agency of the United States.
  d. The financial institution acts as custodian for Michigan CLASS with respect to each certificate of deposit.
  e. At the same time that the funds of Michigan CLASS are deposited and the certificate or certificates of deposit are issued, the financial institution 

receives an amount of deposits from customers of other insured depository institutions or insured credit unions equal to or greater than the 
amount of the funds initially invested by the Michigan CLASS through the financial institution.

 (h) In addition to the investments authorized in subsection (f), deposit accounts that meet all of the following conditions:
  a. The funds are initially deposited in a financial institution that is not ineligible to be a depository of surplus funds belonging to the State of 

Michigan under section 6 of 1855 PA105, MCL 21.146.
  b. The financial institution arranges for the deposit of the funds in deposit accounts in 1or more insured depository institutions, as defined in 12 

USC 1813, or 1 or more insured credit unions, as defined in 12 USC 1752, for the account of Michigan CLASS.
  c. The full amount of the principal and any accrued interest of each deposit account is insured by an agency of the United States.
  d. The financial institution acts as custodian for Michigan CLASS with respect to each deposit account.
  e. On the same date that the funds of Michigan CLASS are deposited, the financial institution receives an amount of deposits from customers 

of other insured depository institutions or insured credit unions equal to or greater than the amount of the funds initially deposited by Michigan 
CLASS in the financial institution.

 (i)  Mutual funds registered under the investment company act of 1940, maintaining a $1.00 per share net asset value, and with authority to purchase 
investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by all participant public agencies whose monies are invested in mutual funds that such 
participants acknowledge that the funds be placed in a special sub account created pursuant to the Participation Agreement, as amended.

 (j)  Any other investment permissible to all Participants individually under Michigan Law and authorized by the board

28



19

Michigan CLASS EDGE may invest in:

 (a) U.S. Treasury Bonds, Bills, Notes and Treasury Strips.
 (b) Obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United States.
 (c) Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the highest two classifications established by not less than two standard rating services 

(i.e., as of September 18, 2009, A-1+ and A-1 by S&P Global Ratings, P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, or F1+ and F1 by FitchRatings) and that 
matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.

 (d) Bankers’ acceptances issued by FDIC member United States banks.
 (e) Repurchase agreements consisting of instruments listed in subdivision (a or b). Repurchase agreements shall be 102% collateralized with Public 

Securities Association (PSA) Master Repurchase agreement on file and or tri-party custody agreement on file.
 (f) Certificates of deposit of a financial institution eligible under law to be a depository of Participant public agencies of government so long as such 

articles of deposit are secured 102% at the value of each by eligible collateral listed on Schedule I for any amount of principal and accrued interest 
not insured by an agency of the United States.

 (g) In addition to the investments authorized in subsection (f), certificates of deposit issued in accordance with all of the following conditions:
  a. The funds are initially invested through a financial institution that is not ineligible to be a depository of surplus funds belonging to the state of 

Michigan under section 6of 1855 PA 105, MCL 21.146.
  b. The financial institution arranges for the investment of the funds in certificates of deposit in 1 or more insured depository institutions, as defined 

in 12 USC 1813, or 1or more insured credit unions, as defined in 12 USC 1752, for the account of Michigan CLASS EDGE.
  c. The full amount of the principal and any accrued interest of each certificate of deposit is insured by an agency of the United States.
  d. The financial institution acts as custodian for Michigan CLASS EDGE with respect to each certificate of deposit.
  e. At the same time that the funds of Michigan CLASS EDGE are deposited and the certificate or certificates of deposit are issued, the financial 

institution receives an amount of deposits from customers of other insured depository institutions or insured credit unions equal to or greater than 
the amount of the funds initially invested by Michigan CLASS EDGE through the financial institution.

 (h) In addition to the investments authorized in subsection (f), deposit accounts that meet all of the following conditions:
  a. The funds are initially deposited in a financial institution that is not ineligible to be a depository of surplus funds belonging to the State of 

Michigan under section 6 of 1855 PA105, MCL 21.146.
  b. The financial institution arranges for the deposit of the funds in deposit accounts in 1or more insured depository institutions, as defined in 12 

USC 1813, or 1 or more insured credit unions, as defined in 12 USC 1752, for the account of Michigan CLASS EDGE.
  c. The full amount of the principal and any accrued interest of each deposit account is insured by an agency of the United States.
  d. The financial institution acts as custodian for Michigan CLASS EDGE with respect to each deposit account.
  e. On the same date that the funds of Michigan CLASS EDGE are deposited, the financial institution receives an amount of deposits from customers 

of other insured depository institutions or insured credit unions equal to or greater than the amount of the funds initially deposited by Michigan 
CLASS EDGE in the financial institution.

 (i)  Mutual funds registered under the investment company act of 1940, maintaining a $1.00 per share net asset value, and with authority to purchase 
investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by all participant public agencies whose monies are invested in mutual funds that such 
participants acknowledge that the funds be placed in a special sub account created pursuant to the Participation Agreement, as amended.

 (j)  Any other investment permissible to all Participants individually under Michigan Law and authorized by the board.

Note 4. Repurchase Agreements

Transactions involving purchases of securities under agreements to resell/repurchase are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are recorded 
at their contracted resell amounts. In addition, interest earned but not yet collected is included in interest receivable. The custodian bank reports the 
market value of the collateral securities to Michigan CLASS on at least a weekly basis. Funds are released from Michigan CLASS’s portfolios for repurchase 
agreements only when collateral has been wired to the custodian bank or when the balance is swept overnight, and for the period ended June 30, 
2023, Michigan CLASS held no uncollateralized repurchase agreements. If the seller of the agreement defaults and the value of the collateral declines, 
the immediate realization of the full amount of the agreement by Michigan CLASS may be limited. At June 30, 2023, securities with a fair value of 
approximately $141,577,178 were received as collateral for securities purchased under agreements to resell for the Michigan CLASS portfolio.  Michigan 
CLASS EDGE did not hold a repurchase agreement at June 30, 2023.  Interest earned on repurchase agreements as a percentage of total interest earned 
was 7% for Michigan CLASS for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Note 5. Administration and Investment Advisory Fees

Investment advisory services and administration and marketing services are provided by Public Trust Advisors, LLC (“PTA”). Michigan CLASS’s fees are 
calculated daily and paid monthly. The Daily Fee shall be calculated as follows: The Investment Property Value is multiplied by the Applicable Fee Rate 
and is divided by 365 or 366 days in the event of a leap year to equal the Daily Fee accrual. The Investment Property Value shall be based on the prior 
day’s net assets. For weekend days and holidays, the net assets for the previous business day will be utilized for the calculation of fees. The Applicable 
Fee Rate shall be determined monthly on the first business day of each month and shall be as follows:

Michigan CLASS:
  
 Prior Day’s Net Assets Fee % 
 First 3,000,000,000  .13%
 Over 3,000,000,001  .12%

29



20

Michigan CLASS EDGE:
 Prior Day’s Net Assets Fee % 
 First 3,000,000,000  .13%
 Over 3,000,000,001  .12%

Fees may be waived or abated at any time, or from time to time, at the sole discretion of PTA. Any such waived fees may be restored by the written 
agreement of the Board of Trustees in its sole discretion. PTA pays all fees associated with other services as mutually agreed upon with the Board of 
Trustees.  The fees are collected by PTA and used to pay all expenses related to Michigan CLASS. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, there were no 
fees waived in the Michigan CLASS portfolio and fees of $29,650 were voluntarily waived in the Michigan CLASS EDGE portfolio.

Note 6. Share Transactions

Transactions in shares during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 for the Michigan CLASS portfolio were as follows: 
      
 2023 2022  
 Shares sold  8,046,988,206   3,978,332,284  
 Shares issued on reinvestment of distributions  131,822,318   5,367,550  
 Shares redeemed  (7,563,045,022)  (3,583,270,135)         
 Net increase  615,765,502   400,429,699              

At June 30, 2023, no participants held more than a 5% participation interest in the Michigan CLASS portfolio.  
 
Transactions in shares during the twelve months ended June 30, 2023 and for the seven months from inception date of December 20, 2021 through 
June 30, 2022 for the Michigan CLASS EDGE portfolio were as follows1: 
 2023 2022  
 Shares sold  4,211,382   31,767,647  
 Shares issued on reinvestment of distributions  943,748   71,667  
 Shares redeemed  (13,449,634)  (101,097)          
 Net increase/(decrease)  (8,294,504)  31,738,217                

At June 30, 2023, six participants held a 5% or greater participation interest in the Michigan CLASS EDGE portfolio.  The holdings of these participants 
are approximately 60% of the portfolio at June 30, 2023.  Investment activities of these participants could have a material impact on Michigan CLASS 
EDGE.    
     
1 Michigan CLASS EDGE is a variable NAV portfolio; shares are traded at the NAV calculated on transaction trade date.  

Note 7. Financial Highlights for a Share Outstanding Throughout Each Period
    
   Michigan CLASS 
    Years Ended June 30, 
  2023  2022 2021 2020 2019
Per Share Data 
 
Net Asset Value - Beginning of Period  $1.00   $1.00   $1.00   $1.00   $1.00 
 
Net Investment Income Earned  
and Distributed to Shareholders  $0.040   $0.002   $0.001   $0.016   $0.024 
 
Net Asset Value - End of Period  $1.00   $1.00   $1.00   $1.00   $1.00 
 
TOTAL RETURN 4.002% 0.243% 0.100% 1.649% 2.419%
 
RATIOS 
Net Assets-End of period ($000 Omitted)  $3,215,307   $2,598,422   $2,199,780   $2,400,599   $1,815,040 
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets Gross 0.129% 0.130% 0.130% 0.130% 0.130%
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets Waived 0.000% 0.007% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets 0.129% 0.123% 0.130% 0.130% 0.130%
Ratio of Net Investment Income to Average Net Assets 4.000% 0.248% 0.103% 1.605% 2.392%
 

30



21

 Michigan CLASS EDGE
               Year and Period Ended June 30, 
  2023 2022* 
Per Share Data 
 
Net Asset Value - Beginning of Period  $9.97   $10.00  
 
Net Investment Income Earned  
and Distributed to Shareholders  $0.369   $0.037  
 
Net Asset Value - End of Period  $9.97   $9.97  
 
TOTAL RETURN 3.912% 0.012% 
 
RATIOS 
Net Assets-End of period ($000 Omitted)  $233,745   $316,422  
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets Gross 0.130% 0.129%1 
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets Waived 0.012% 0.045%1 
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets 0.118% 0.084%1 
Ratio of Net Investment Income to Average Net Assets 3.720% 0.706%1 

1 All ratios are presented on an annualized basis 
* Period from December 20, 2021 through June 30, 2022  

Note 8. Subsequent Events

In accordance with the provisions set forth in ASC 855-10, Subsequent Events, Management has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in 
the Michigan CLASS’s financial statements. Management has determined that there were no material events that would require disclosure in the Michigan 
CLASS’s financial statements as of September 11, 2023, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

Note 9. Related Parties

All trustees of Michigan CLASS are officers of participating governments.

31



22

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Edward Bradford
Chief Financial Officer, City of Manistee

Karen Coffman
Treasurer, Jackson County

Kelly Corbett, CPA, CFO
Director of Business and Finance, St. Johns Public Schools

Susan Daugherty, CPFA, CPFIM
Treasurer, Green Oak Charter Township

Barbara Fandell, CPT, ACPFA
City Treasurer-Finance Director, City of Ithaca

Bruce Malinczak, CPFA
Assistant Treasurer, Canton Charter Township

Catherine McClary, CPFO, CPFIM
Treasurer, Washtenaw County

Julie Omer, CFO
Business Manager/CFO, Owosso Public Schools

Eric Sabree
Treasurer, Wayne County

Edward J. Sell Jr., CPA
Finance Director, City of Monroe

Joseph Snyder
Chief Financial Officer, City of Rochester Hills

Scott Taylor, CPA, CTP
Director, Accounting, Finance & Planning, Lansing Board of Water and Light

Teri Weingarden
Treasurer, West Bloomfield Township

13623 Acacia Lane
Dewitt, MI 49820
(855)382-0496
www.michiganclass.org

32



Page 1 of 5 

 
 
 
 

 
 

COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
October 12, 2023 

 
Autumn is my favorite time of year, and it seems to be moving forward more quickly 
than usual.  The change in color of the leaves does me good.  I know change is difficult 
for many people, but I embrace it because it is the only constant.   
 
We are so busy, I am not going to provide a written report except for agenda information 
and to say that the entire staff is working so hard as we transition on so many levels: a 
new ILS manager, new email, new board, new policies and budget year and I am so 
proud, as I have said many times before, to be a part of this team. I cannot thank them 
enough. Every individual has stepped up without being asked and we appreciate your 
patience as well.   
 
Board members:  I will need many of you to sign banking documents. I will reach out to 
you separately but bring a nice pen! Thank you!  
 
Board and Advisory Agenda Items: 
 

Board: 
 

We are including the most recent MI CLASS annual report for your information. 
We have a lot invested with them and want you all to be informed.  
 
We annually have the board approve our banking and investment partners. The 
list is in the packet.  
 
The Michigan Cooperative Directors are hoping that every Coop Board will pass a 
public comment policy and have their boards take an oath.  There are drafts in the 
packet.  I look forward to the discussion.  The purpose is to teach by example so 
that member libraries feel empowered to do the same.  
 
There wasn’t a quorum of Class I, II and III libraries at the September Advisory 
Meeting so they couldn’t vote for a board member. We will try again.  Officers and 
Committee assignments will be voted on and discussed in November.   

 

33



Page 2 of 5 

Advisory: 
 

Class I, II and III libraries need to caucus to elect a board member. 
The Advisory Council members need to elect officers.   
 
As per my multiple e-mails, we will have a demo of the BiblioCommons mobile 
app., BiblioApps on Wednesday, October 11th at 10:00 a.m. via Zoom. We are 
allowing time at the meeting for discussion. Please bring your questions and I will 
work with Erica at BiblioCommons to get answers.  

 
 
Manager/Specialist Reports: 
 
Cataloging Services Manager - Jeff Lezman 
 
September 2023 activities 
 
E-mail & telephone consulting contacts:  50 
 
Sierra records manually edited: 84 
 
We added 919 Hoopla records and 6,520 Kanopy records to the database. 
 
 
August 2023 Statistics 
 
The statistics for August 2023 show a decrease in the number of cataloging requests 
we received, and a decrease in the number of records cataloged compared to August of 
last year.   
 
The number of requests to be cataloged in August was down by 4% compared to 
August 2022. The number of requests received that were already in the database also 
decreased by 4%.  
 
The number of records copy-cataloged in August was down by 19% compared to 
August 2022, due to staff vacations, while the number of original records cataloged was 
down by 11%. The total number of records cataloged was down by 18% compared to 
August 2022. 
 
 

Cataloging August 
2023 

YTD August 
2022  

YTD Monthly 
% 

YTDPCT 

Requests 
Received 

1845 19689 1928 20346 -4% -3% 

Requests already 
in database 

45 612 47  952 -4% -36% 

34



Page 3 of 5 

 
 
Delivery & Facility Manager - Terry Cross 
 
September 2023 – Number of Bags & Bins Loaded Daily on the Trucks at Lakeland               
  September – 

2023 
September – 

2022 
Difference % Change 

Total Book 
Bags & Bins 

2,872 2,994 (122) (4%) 

 
In September 2023, there were 2,872 book bags and bins sorted, loaded, and delivered 
to member libraries. The 2,872 bags and bins that were delivered in September 2023 
were 4% less than the 2,994 bags and bins that were sorted and delivered in 
September of the prior year.  
 
RIDES statistics: In addition to the book bags and bins that were received from 
member libraries, we also received and sorted 187 Mel Cat bins in September 2023. 
This was an increase of 38 bins as compared to the 149 bins that were received in 
September 2023. Also in September 2023, we sent out 158 bins, which was an increase 
of 14 bins as compared to the 144 bins that were sent out in September 2022.  
 
In September, I covered for driver and sorter vacation time off by driving 5 days and 
helped sort for 2 days.    
 
Both of the main trucks had oil/lube/filter service in September. Both of the main trucks 
also had 2 new front and 4 new rear tires put on in September. All of the trucks are 
ready for winter and are current with their regularly scheduled maintenance programs.  
 
Also in September, I started working on updating the Master Signature Agreements with 
our 3 banks in order to properly reflect changes in the composition of the Board that will 
be effective October 1.    
 
 
Digital Services Specialist – Nicki Johnson 
The Overdrive meeting was held Sept. 20th. New combined pricing for the magazines 
and ebooks/audiobooks was agreed upon. Advantage purchasing by library was 
shared. Since then, several libraries have reached out to see what they can do to help 
their patrons and the co-op. Creativebug pricing went out. Decisions to opt in need to be 
in by Oct. 17.   
Text here 

Requests to be 
cataloged 

1800 19077 1881    19394       -4% -2% 

Copy Cataloging 1261 17144 1559    17324 -19% -1% 

Original 
Cataloging 

203 2435 229  2105 -11% 16% 

Total Cataloged 1464 
  

19579 1788    19429 -18% 1% 

35



Page 4 of 5 

 
Finance & HR Assistant - Janet Cornell 
I have been wrapping up and finalizing transactions for our fiscal year end.  Most of the 
activity has been completed but for a few invoices that have not come in yet.  These 
should be posted within the month so we can start entering financial data for the state 
aid report by the end of October or early November. 
 
Quarterly ecommerce fines were disbursed near the end of September along with the 
youth programing donation. I will be emailing these ecommerce fine reports in the future 
so if this quarterly report did not reach the correct person, let me know so I can update 
my contact list.  Also, please be sure to deposit these checks as soon as possible so we 
can clear them off our books before the audit.  I will send reminders after reconciling 
October bank statements if there are any that have not cleared our accounts. 

The October quarterly billing has been sent and reflects the fees for the new fiscal year.  
Along with the quarterly billing, a quarterly statement of activity and a budget sheet for 
planning was included.  There were a few emails that came back as undeliverable due 
to email changes, but these were resent to an alternative email.  If you did not receive 
your quarterly billing, please let me know so I can forward it to the correct email 
address. 

Last month we switched our main checking account over to an interest sweep account 
and closed another account as outlined in our planned banking changes.  The changes 
are being made to ensure the funds are fully insured, liquid, and earning the most return 
on investment according to our banking policy.  Approximately, we have already earned 
an additional $160 in interest due to this change.  We will be finishing the rest of the 
planned banking changes this month. 
 
IT Manager – Dave VanderGraaf 
The recycling of old equipment has continued as another pickup is scheduled this 
month. 
 
Progress on the email migration project includes four more locations that were 
completed last month, and six more are scheduled this month.  Thank you all for 
working with us/Nick/your IT as we hope to complete this project soon.  We are looking 
to implement a solution soon after the email migration is complete in order to resolve 
distribution list errors. 
 
EZproxy support requests are currently being researched and will be addressed soon. 
 
September help desk tickets created: 184 
September help desk tickets closed: 153 
*Tickets can span several days/weeks depending on the issue/project. 
 
ILS Manager – Ann Langois (From Carol)  
Ann is working on tickets every day as best she can from Germany.  We look forward to 
having her here, in person in November. Many of you have already worked with her and 
have provided positive feedback. Thank you.   

36



Page 5 of 5 

Member Services Manager – Amber McLain 
 
Patron Point 
We continue to have a fantastic number of applications for Patron Point. We had 647 
applications in the month of September. Now onto the not so great news - we’ve hit a bit 
of a snag with AutoRenew, and are working with the entire team over at PP to try and 
resolve this. 
 
BiblioSuggest 
BiblioSuggest is ready for testing! I have reached out to our test libraries and will be 
working with them to refine our training and rollout process. We will then observe how 
the product performs in the wild and adjust materials as needed before rolling the 
product out to the rest of our libraries.  
 
Email  
As a reminder, please notify us once you have migrated your emails. We need to switch 
your old @llcoop emails out in a number of places - such as Sierra, the directory, our for 
Bibliocommons, Capira, MessageBee, Patron Point, Hoopla, Overdrive etc. I have sent 
out a Google form to make this easy for all parties. I will send another email containing 
the link to the form for ease of access. 
 
Continuing Education  
The Continuing Education Committee is proud to announce its upcoming slate of events 
for the fall and winter:  

• October 12: Be a Genealogy Genius 
• November 9: Lakeland Lunch and Learn - Seed Libraries 
• November 14: Back to Basics  
• January 11: Lakeland Lunch and Learn - Library of Things  
• March 14: Lakeland Lunch and Learn - Outreach  

You can check the Lakeland calendar for information on registering for these events, 
and keep an eye on your email for more information on each event.  
 
********************************* 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Carol Dawe 
 

37



1 

LAKELAND LIBRARY COOPERATIVE 
ADVISORY COUNCIL MINUTES – Unofficial 

Thursday, August 10, 2023 at 9:30 a.m. 
At the KDL Service Center 

Council Members Present:  Mary Cook (OA), Kelly Tinkham (NN), Elyshia Hoekstra (OC), 

Lakeland Staff Present: Carok Dawe, Amber McLain, Sheryl VanderWagen 

1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: The meeting was called to order at 10:18 by Mary Cook.
2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Cierra Bakovka moved, supported by Stefanie Reed to approve the 

agenda as presented - motion carried.
a) PUBLIC COMMENTS: None

3) APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Britney Dillon moved, supported by Cierra Bakovka, to approve the 
Advisory Council minutes from July 13, 2023, with amendments– motion carried.

4) COUNCIL PRESIDENT REPORT: Mary Cook discussed the process for expressing interest in 
Advisory roles.

5) BOARD REPORT:  None.
6) ILS MANAGER’S REPORT: See written report. Sheryl also shared that BiblioSuggest is testing with a 

few libraries.
7) MEMBER SERVICE MANAGER’S: See written report. Amber highlighted the need to check for 

Directory changes.
8) COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT: Carol assured the group that Lakeland will make sure the 

libraries have their Bibliocore logins. She also shared that we are working with Bibliocore for OverDrive 
records regarding what shows in the catalog when searching. Carol also spoke about onboarding 
Anne, the new ILS manager hire.

9) COMMITEE REPORTS:
a) Finance Committee – included for information.

10) OTHER REPORTS:
a) MLA – Legislation is currently on break, so discussion currently revolves around items coming up 

after Labor Day or hypotheticals on the horizon. MLA Right to read is planning presentations for 
the fall. Penguin Random House is sending along a draft of a Right to Read Platform to all Library 
Associations to take to their legislature. MLA thought it was a bit overboard for the current climate, 
but the core point was regarding protecting library staff from the influx of abuse.

11) ONGOING AND NEW BUSINESS:
a) Budget – Mary Johnson moved, supported by Britney Dillon, to approve the budget by Mary 

Johnson, seconded by Britney Dillon, to approve the 2023-2024 budget.
b) Patron Point Auto-Renew – Motion to approve moving forward with Patron Point Auto Renew 

made by Peggy Hemerling, seconded by Stefanie Reed. Majority approved, two opposed.
c) SRP Sharing – Discussion ensued about attendance rates, adult participation, and finisher rates.

12) PUBLIC COMMENTS:
a) Several public comments (Amber was helping the caterer for Shery’s retirement).
b) Carol discussed OverDrive Advantage titles and the development of standards for them.
c) Stef Reed shared that they are a part of the MLA committee for Future Readiness for libraries –

which will cover things like AI, building design, HR, etc.
13) NEXT MEETING: Thursday, September 14, 2023, following the 9:30 a.m. Board Meeting at Kent 

District Library Service Center
14) ADJOURNMENT:  Cierra Bakovka moved, supported by, Peggy Hemerling, to adjourn at 11:03  -

motion carried.

Respectfully submitted by, 
Amber McLain 

38



LAKELAND LIBRARY COOPERATIVE  
COOPERATIVE BOARD RESOLUTION 
DESIGNATION OF FUND DEPOSITORIES 

The Lakeland Library Cooperative Board hereby designates the following banks as 
the authorized depository for the Cooperative's funds for Fiscal Year 2023-2024: 

• Flagstar Bank

• Macatawa Bank

• Michigan Cooperative Liquid Assets Security System (Michigan CLASS)

39



 

 
 

 PUBLIC COMMENT 
POLICY 

 

I. Purpose 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Open Meetings Act, being Act 267, Public Acts of 
Michigan, 1976, as amended, a person shall be permitted to address a meeting of the Lakeland 
Library Cooperative Board under rules established and recorded by the Cooperative. 

II. Rules 

A. Each speaker is requested to provide their name and residence at the time of 
their public comment. 

B. Each speaker shall be limited to three (3) minutes per meeting. 

C. Each speaker may speak only one time during each meeting and may not 
“split” the three-minute time period. 

D. No speaker may “assign” their time to another person. 

E. Groups are encouraged to designate one or more individuals to speak on their 
behalf to avoid cumulative comments. However, there is no requirement to make such a 
designation. 

F. These rules shall be recorded in the minutes and kept on file with the 
Cooperative Board and Secretary. 

 
Approved by the Lakeland Library Cooperative Board  on __________________________ 
 
Secretary:   ______________________________________________________________ 

  

 

 

 
 

  

40



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

OATH OF OFFICE 
 

 
Name:    

[Print] 
 

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States 
and the Constitution of the state of Michigan and that I will faithfully discharge the duties 
of my position on the Lakeland Library Cooperative Board to the best of my ability. 

 
Signature:   

 
 

Date Signed:   
 
Witnessed by Notary: 
 
 Acknowledged by_____________ before me on the__________ day of_______________________,  
Signature______________________________________________  
Printed name___________________________________________ 
 Notary public, State of Michigan,  
County of: _______________________________________________  
My commission expires___________________________________  
 
*If performing a notarial act in a county other than the county of commission include: Acting in the 
County of_________________  
 
 
Stamp/Seal 

 

41



Library of Michigan ● 702 W. Kalamazoo St. ● Lansing, MI 48915 ● 517-335-1477 ● www.michigan.gov/libraryofmichigan 

PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARDS AND OATHS 
OF OFFICE  
The research and resources below are for informational purposes only and not for the purpose of providing 

legal advice. You should contact your attorney to obtain advice with respect to any particular issue or 

problem. 

June 23, 2020 

Under the definitions of “Public Officer”  that are described in various legal authorities citing the Michigan 

Constitution Art. XI, Sect 1, any Public Library Board would fit within the designation, and therefore should 

take the oath. 

CONSTITUTION OF MICHIGAN OF 1963 

§ 1 Oath of public officers.

Sec. 1. 

All officers, legislative, executive and judicial, before entering upon the duties of their respective 
offices, shall take and subscribe the following oath or affirmation: I do solemnly swear (or 

affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the constitution of this state, 
and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of .......... according to the best of my 
ability. No other oath, affirmation, or any religious test shall be required as a qualification for 

any office or public trust. 

History: Const. 1963, Art. XI, § 1, Eff. Jan. 1, 1964 
Former Constitution: See Const. 1908, Art. XVI, § 2. 

“Public Officer,” as defined by legal authority citing this constitutional provision, is: 

A “public office” is the right, authority, and duty, created and conferred by law, by which for a given 
period, either fixed by law or enduring at the pleasure of the creating power, an individual is invested 
with some portion of the sovereign functions of the government, to be exercised by him for the benefit 
of the public, and the individual so invested is a “public officer”.  People v. Freedland (1944) 14 
N.W.2d 62, 308 Mich. 449. 

A state officer, in one sense of the word, is one who exercises a portion of sovereign powers on a 
state-wide basis, normally from seat of government, while in another sense he is any official 
whatsoever whose duties embrace the implementation of sovereign power, however expressed such 
as a village constable.  Schobert v. Inter-County Drainage Bd. of Tuscola, Sanilac, and Lapeer 
Counties for White Creek No. 2 Inter-County Drain (1955) 69 N.W.2d 814, 342 Mich. 270. 

442

http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-Article-XI-1
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-Article-XI-1
https://casetext.com/case/people-v-freedland-1
https://casetext.com/case/people-v-freedland-1
http://www.leagle.com/decision/1955612342Mich270_1574/SCHOBERT%20v.%20INTER-COUNTY%20DRAIN.
http://www.leagle.com/decision/1955612342Mich270_1574/SCHOBERT%20v.%20INTER-COUNTY%20DRAIN.


Page 2 of 2 
 

Library of Michigan ● 702 W. Kalamazoo St. ● Lansing, MI 48915 ● 517-335-1477 ● www.michigan.gov/libraryofmichigan 

In Addition. MCL 15.151 states: 
 

15.151 Constitutional oath of office; employees and persons in service of state. 

Sec. 1. 

All persons now employed, or who may be employed by the state of Michigan or any 

governmental agency thereof, and all other persons in the service of the state or any 
governmental agency, shall, as a condition of their employment, take and subscribe to the 

oath or affirmation required of members of the legislature and other public officers by section 2 
of article 16 of the constitution of 1908 of the state of Michigan.(emphasis added) 

 
History: 1951, Act 22, Imd. Eff. Apr. 5, 1951  

Compiler's Notes: For constitutional provision referred to in this section, see now Const. 1963, 
Art. XI, § 1. 

However, election laws http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-116-1954-X that specify time frames within 
which the oaths should be taken by certain County officers do not include any Boards (as the laws for Villages 
and Townships do). 
 
But that fact does not detract from the fact that the Mi. Constitution supersedes these statutes (and is not in 
conflict with, since these statutes are designed to create more specific criteria and consequences for  oath-
taking- or lack of – not change who should take the oath in general), and, as far as I can tell, the Constitution 
indicates that ALL Public Officers (elected OR appointed) must take the Oath. 
 
This would seem to indicate that a Library Board should take the oath. 
 
Clare D. Membiela 
Library of Michigan 
Library Law Consultant. 
 

 

543

http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-15-151
http://legislature.mi.gov/doc.aspx?mcl-116-1954-X


 

 
 

OATH OF OFFICE 
 

 
Name:    

[Print] 
 

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States 
and the Constitution of the state of Michigan and that I will faithfully discharge the duties 
of my position on the Lakeland Library Cooperative Board to the best of my ability. 

 
Signature:   

 
 

Date Signed:   
 
Witnessed by Notary: 
 
 Acknowledged by_____________ before me on the__________ day of_______________________,  
Signature______________________________________________  
Printed name___________________________________________ 
 Notary public, State of Michigan,  
County of: _______________________________________________  
My commission expires___________________________________  
 
*If performing a notarial act in a county other than the county of commission include: Acting in the 
County of_________________  
 
 
Stamp/Seal 

 

44


	Agenda 10-12-23
	BOARD MONTHLY MEETING
	1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	a) Introduce New Members
	2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA       (m)
	3) QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS & BOARD PRESIDENT/COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR ANSWERS
	4) PUBLIC COMMENTS
	5) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	a) September 14, 2023, Unofficial Board Minutes    (m) PAGES 2-3

	6) FINANCIAL REPORT
	a) August Financials and monthly check register     (m) PAGES 4-10
	b) MI CLASS Annual Report       (m)        PAGES 11-32

	7) PRESIDENT’S REPORT       (i)
	8) COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT     (i) PAGES 33-37
	9) COUNCIL/COMMITTEE REPORTS
	a) Advisory Council Official Minutes September 14, 2023   (i)          PAGE 38
	10) NEW BUSINESS
	a) Fund Depositories Designates      (m) PAGE 39
	b) Public Comment Policy Draft       (m)  PAGE 40
	c) Board Member Oath Draft      (m)  PAGES  41-43
	11) PUBLIC COMMENTS
	12) BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS
	13) NEXT MEETING: November 9th at the Kent District Library Service Center
	14) ADJOURNMENT        (m)

	Unofficial minutes 091423
	LAKELAND LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
	BOARD MINUTES – Unofficial
	1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: The meeting was called to order at 9:32 am. by Lance Werner.
	2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA: John McNaughton moved, supported by Diane Kooiker, to approve the agenda as presented - motion carried.
	3) QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS: There were no questions from members.
	4) PUBLIC COMMENTS: There were no public comments.
	5) APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Shirley Bruursema moved, supported by Ron Suszek, to approve the board minutes from August. – motion carried.
	6) FINANCIAL REPORT:
	a) August Financials and Check Register: John McNaughton moved, supported by Maggie McKeithan, to approve the August Financials as presented - motion carried.
	7) PRESIDENT’S REPORT
	a)  Lance Werner had nothing to report.
	8) DIRECTOR’S REPORT
	9) COUNCIL/COMMITEE REPORTS
	10) NEW BUSINESS:
	11) PUBLIC COMMENTS:
	12) BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS:
	a) Shirley Bruursema – With 5 different fiscal year ends in the cooperative, she has been busy working with 5 different millage elections.
	b) Joe Zappacosta – Joe gave a shoutout to the HR Collaborative group based in Grand Rapids for assistance in Hackley’s employee handbook revisions.
	c) Dale Parus - None
	d) John McNaughton - None
	e) Diane Kooiker - None
	f) Ron Suszek - None
	g) Maggie McKeithan – Spring Lake renovations begin October 1st. Bids came in lower than expected so they are within $18,000 of their fundraising goal.
	h) Lance Werner – KDL’s millage campaign is ongoing.  Thanked Shirley for all her hard work and service over the years at KDL and Lakeland.
	13) NEXT MEETING: Thursday, October 12, 2023, at 9:30 a.m. at Kent District Library Service Center.
	14) ADJOURNMENT: John McNaughton moved, supported by Ron Suszek, to adjourn at 9:51 am - motion carried.

	Sept 23 Financials
	MICLASS-annual-report-2023_FINAL
	Director's Report
	Unofficial Advisory Minutes 2023-08
	LAKELAND LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
	ADVISORY COUNCIL MINUTES – Unofficial
	1) CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: The meeting was called to order at 10:18 by Mary Cook.
	2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Cierra Bakovka moved, supported by Stef Reed to approve the agenda as presented - motion carried.
	a) PUBLIC COMMENTS: None
	3) APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Britney Dillon moved, supported by Cierra Bakovka, to approve the Advisory Council minutes from July 13, 2023, with amendments– motion carried.
	4) COUNCIL PRESIDENT REPORT: Mary Cook discussed the process for expressing interest in Advisory roles.
	5) BOARD REPORT:  None.
	6) ILS MANAGER’S REPORT: See written report. Sheryl also shared that BiblioSuggest is testing with a few libraries.
	7) MEMBER SERVICE MANAGER’S: See written report. Amber highlighted the need to check for Directory changes.
	8) COOPERATIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT: Carol assured the group that Lakeland will make sure the libraries have their Bibliocore logins. She also shared that we are working with Bibliocore for OverDrive records regarding what shows in the catalog when searc...
	9) COMMITEE REPORTS:
	a)  Finance Committee – included for information.
	10) OTHER REPORTS:
	a) MLA – Legislation is currently on break, so discussion currently revolves around items coming up after Labor Day or hypotheticals on the horizon. MLA Right to read is planning presentations for the fall. Penguin Random House is sending along a draf...
	11) ONGOING AND NEW BUSINESS:
	12) PUBLIC COMMENTS:
	13) NEXT MEETING: Thursday, September 14, 2023, following the 9:30 a.m. Board Meeting at Kent District Library Service Center
	14) ADJOURNMENT:  Cierra Bakovka moved, supported by, Peggy Hemerling, to adjourn at 11:03  - motion carried.

	Fund Depositories 2023-24
	Public Comment Policy
	Library Oaths LM Explanation
	3 Public_Library_Boards_and_Oaths_of_Office_694687_7
	OMA_handbook_287134_7.pdf
	Core principle
	The Basics
	The Act
	What bodies are covered?
	Public notice requirements
	Agendas and the OMA
	Penalties for OMA violations
	Lawsuits to compel compliance
	Correcting non-conforming decisions
	All decisions must be made at a meeting open to the public
	Meeting “informally” to discuss matters
	Canvassing board members on how they might vote

	A closed session must be conducted during the course of an open meeting
	Use of e-mail or other electronic communications among board members during an open meeting
	Advisory committees and the OMA
	May a quorum of a board gather outside an open meeting without violating the OMA?
	Meeting in closed session
	Limiting public comment
	Identifying public attendees
	Excluding individuals
	Forcibly excluding persons from a closed session
	Staff and others may join the board in a closed session
	Avoid using the terms “closed session” and “executive session” interchangeably
	Decisions must be made during an open meeting, not the closed session
	Leaving a closed session
	Going into closed session 
	Inadvertent omissions from the minutes
	Closed session minutes
	When must the minutes be approved
	When must the minutes be available
	What must be in the minutes
	Taping and broadcasting
	Timing of public comment
	Meeting location
	Core principle
	Resigned members
	Losing a quorum
	Disqualified members
	What is A quorum? 
	Majority
	Imposing a greater voting requirement
	Expired-term members
	Chairperson voting
	Adjourning the meeting 
	Abstain
	Tie vote
	Secret ballot
	Rule of necessity
	Round-robin voting
	Roll call vote
	Proxy voting


	Board Member Oath



